IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

2012 DEC 21 AM 10: 53

CLEME OF REFLE COURT

BY____

Appellant,

VS.

CASE NO. SC12-1161

STATE OF FLORIDA,

CARL DAUSCH,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

By: CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES Florida Bar No. 294632 and NANCY RYAN, Florida Bar No. 765910 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDERS 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 Phone: 386/254-3758 quarles.chris@pd7.org ryan.nancy@pd7.org

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

DISCOVERY OF THE BODY, AND THE INDICTMENT

This was a cold case. On the morning of July 15, 1987, the Sumter County Sheriff's Office was alerted to the presence of a corpse by the side of the road some seven miles north of Bushnell. (XII 388) The body of Adrian Mobley was fully clothed and hog-tied with a sheet; it looked as though it had been dragged. (XII 390; XIII 408, 452, 457-58; XIV 628-29) Law enforcement determined the body had been placed there the night before. (XIV 622) It was not until 2006 that a grand jury charged Appellant with the premeditated first-degree murder of Mr. Mobley, and with one count of sexual battery on him with force likely to cause serious personal injury. (I 1)

THE MEDICAL EXAMINER'S TESTIMONY

Dr. Cheryl LaMay conducted an autopsy on Mr. Mobley's body on July 15, 1987. (XIII 426) She testified at trial that he died from blunt trauma to his face, neck, and chest. (XIII 435, 439, 442) Those injuries are visible in State's Exhibit 2. (Vol. X, Disc 1; Appendix to this brief)

Dr. LaMay described the victim's facial injuries as including bruises and lacerations, chiefly to the bridge of his nose and the area around his eyes. (XIII 435-36) The nasal bridge was fractured, as was the cribiform plate, which she described as "a small plate above the nose area...where the nerves from the nasal portion of the internal nose actually go into the brain." (XIII 437) Neither eye orbit was fractured, and there was no trauma to the brain itself. (XIII 437, 441)

The doctor described a further injury to the victim's neck and collarbone area. (XIII 438-41) She described "little parallel bruises" that appeared to her to have been inflicted all at once. (XIII 439) She agreed with counsel for the State that that patterned injury was consistent with "a stomping." (XIII 443) The injury to the neck area caused no breakage of cartilage, or of the hyoid bone or any other bone. (XIII 440-41) It did result in bruising to the soft tissue between the ribs and to the surface of the lung tissue. (XIII 440)

In the doctor's opinion fatal swelling resulted to the victim's brain once both injuries impeded the flow of blood from the brain. (XIII 441, 460, 463) The doctor believed the head injury took place first. (XIII 459-60) She concluded the victim was unconscious or barely conscious when the neck injury was inflicted. (XIII 460) The injuries taken together would have resulted in unconsciousness and death within minutes. (XIII 442)

The body exhibited no defensive wounds and the doctor did not believe the victim struggled. (XIII 452-54) Dr. LaMay took and stained an anal swab during the autopsy, and observed the presence of semen on the swab. (XIII 430-31) A

single straight black hair was found on the victim's face, but it was lost before it could be tested. (XIII 451; XIV 629; XIII 529) There was no sign of injury to the victim's buttocks or anal area; his appearance was consistent with having had consensual sex. (XIII 454-55)

DISCOVERY OF THE VICTIM'S CAR AND WALLET

A reserve law enforcement officer, Douglas Lee, spotted the victim's car being abandoned near Interstate 65, north of Nashville, Tennessee, on the afternoon of July 15, 1987. (XIII 469-75) Lee watched the man who abandoned it scamper up the bank to the northbound lane of the Interstate. (XIII 474-75) The man was about 5'9" and 165-180 pounds, and had dirty-blond hair and facial hair. (XIII 475; see 486) He was wearing a T-shirt which the witness thought was sleeveless, and the witness saw no tattoos. (XIII 475, 484, 496) The reserve officer alerted authorities; they identified the car as a 1981 Honda Civic that had belonged to Adrian Mobley, and processed the car for evidence. (III 476, 505-07; see XII 380-82, XIII 512-14)

Palm prints, which were identified years later as the defendant's, were taken from the outside of the car, and his thumbprint was taken from the cellophane wrapper from a cigarette lighter; the wrapper was found inside the passenger side of the car. (XIII 538-46, 581-82, 584-85) No prints of the defendant's were found

on the driver's side of the car. (XIII 584-85) Cigarette butts found in the car contained saliva, which would later yield a strong DNA match to the defendant. (XIII 515-16, 528; XIV 759-60)

The victim's wallet was found on July 22 on the roadside on I-75 in Georgia, just north of the Florida line. It contained the victim's identification and no cash. (XIII 559-61, 564-65)

THE THEORY OF DEFENSE

The case was defended on the theory that Mr. Dausch hitched a northbound ride from Mr. Mobley's killer. (XII 358-60, 365; XVI 1065, 1074) The defense, in its case, showed that the defendant in 1987 was 6'1" or 6'2" and 225 pounds, blond, heavily muscled, and heavily tattooed. (XIV 791-92) The defense further showed that the defendant vacationed with his family in Flagler Beach the second week of July, 1987; that the family returned home by way of I-95, I-10, and I-75; that the defendant parted company with the family at I-10 and I-75 to hitchhike the rest of the way to his Indiana home for his birthday; and that his girlfriend picked him up just south of Indianapolis on the evening of his birthday. (XIV 788-95; XV 824-27) The State corroborated that Flagler Beach had been the family's destination, by showing the defendant had sent a Flagler Beach-themed postcard to his daughter, postmarked Jacksonville, on July 8, 1987. (XIV 663-65, 672-76)

THE DNA ANALYSTS' TESTIMONY

As noted above, the defense conceded Appellant rode in the victim's car, making no challenge to the strong DNA profile that was ultimately drawn from the cigarette butts found in the car. (XII 358-60, 365; XVI 1065, 1074) The defense vigorously disputed that further DNA, taken from the victim's anal swabs, similarly showed an inculpatory profile. (XII 362-64; XVI 1070-74, 1079-80)

The anal swabs were first tested, by Thomas Wahl of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, in 1987; they showed the presence of blood group A, and then-current science allowed no further conclusions. (XIV 636, 647-52) In 2003 the swabs were sent to Fairfax Laboratories in Virginia for re-testing, and the analyst there extracted two partial DNA profiles, one from the sperm fraction of the samples and one from the non-sperm fraction. (XIII 522-26, 529-32) The sperm-fraction sample yielded a partial profile that could only be compared at four loci. (XIII 529, 532) Fairfax Labs in 2003 also extracted DNA from the saliva that had been found on the cigarette butts in the victim's car, and obtained a strong profile comparable at 13 of 13 loci. (XIII 530; XIV 759-60; XV 944) In 2004 the Sumter County Sheriff's Office submitted the profile from the cigarette butt into the CODIS database, received notice that a match had been found, and accordingly obtained samples of the defendant's DNA; at the time, he was serving a prison

term in Indiana. (XIII 548-53; see V 970; VI 1066; XIV 750-52)

Robin Ragsdale, a serologist with the FDLE, testified for the State at trial that she was dissatisfied with the results received from Fairfax Labs, and that she re-extracted DNA from the remaining portion of the anal swabs and from portions of the envelope they were contained in. (XIV 724, 754-56) That re-extraction yielded a partial DNA profile foreign to the victim's DNA, which she testified was comparable at two loci. (XIV 756) Ragsdale testified that the partial profile she extracted is similar to the defendant's known profile at those two loci, and that her statistical analysis of those similarities shows that one in 290 Caucasians could have been the source of the DNA found on the anal swabs. (XIV 756-59) She admitted on cross-examination that the statistical analysis she employed has a margin of error of "tenfold," and agreed with defense counsel that "that means that if I got 29 Caucasians in the room, one of them might match." (XIV 763-64)

In 2006 the FDLE sent the DNA that had been extracted by Fairfax Labs, and the DNA that was re-extracted by FDLE, to ReliaGene Laboratories in New Orleans for comparison with the known DNA of the defendant. (XV 886-89, 892-93; XVI 1005-06) At trial the defense called two analysts from ReliaGene as witnesses. (XV 886, 977) Both testified that they compared a known sample of the defendant's DNA with the DNA that was extracted and re-extracted from the anal

swabs; both testified that they perceived only a single profile in the DNA that was extracted from the anal swabs, and that that profile matched the victim and not the defendant. (XV 889-93, 979-82; XVI 1006)

It was also shown at trial that sperm was found on the sheet that was used to bind the victim's hands and feet. (XIV 656-57) The State and defense witnesses agreed that a strong DNA profile, comparable at 13 of 13 loci, showed that neither the victim nor the defendant was the source of that sperm. (XIV 765; XV 945-46)

Nancy Peterson, a former FDLE serologist who has since been an adjunct professor in the University of Central Florida's forensic DNA program, testified for the defense that she had reviewed the various DNA analysts' reports and bench notes. (XV 915-17, 919, 938, 941-42) She concluded that the DNA drawn from the cigarette butts and the sheet was correctly extracted and analyzed. (XV 943-46) As to the DNA taken from the anal swabs, she testified that the partial foreign profile extracted by Fairfax was identical to the partial foreign profile re-extracted by FDLE. (XV 947) Her opinion was that that partial profile affirmatively excluded the defendant as a contributor. (XV 948) Her explanation was that the results are comparable at six loci, and that while the partial foreign profile created by those results resembles the defendant's known profile at three of those loci, the results are distinctively dissimilar at the other loci, leading her to the conclusion

that someone else contributed the semen. (XV 948)

Specifically, Nancy Peterson's analysis of Robin Ragsdale's notes indicated that Ms. Ragsdale assumed that the data contained a "stutter peak." (XV 950-51) According to Ms. Peterson, a stutter peak is an artifact of the DNA-extracting process which should be ignored for comparison purposes. (XV 951) She clarified that analysts should be cautious about diagnosing peaks as "stutter peaks" where, as here, a mixed profile is present. (XV 951) Ms. Peterson testified that the much simpler and likelier explanation of the questioned peak in this case is that the foreign part of the DNA extracted from the anal swabs contains, rather than a "stutter peak," a valid result at a distinct locus which affirmatively indicates a nonmatch with the defendant's DNA. (XV 948-51)

THE INDIANA OFFICER 'S TESTIMONY (<u>WILLIAMS</u> RULE)

The defense moved, prior to trial, for an order precluding the State from referring to the defendant's prior criminal history in the jury's presence. (V 970) The court granted the motion. (VI 1066)

During the guilt phase of trial, Deputy Sheriff Alan Jones appeared for the State. He testified he had spent thirty-six years as first a beat cop, then a detective, with the Indiana State Police, followed by three years with the Indianapolis-area sheriff's office. (XIV 678-79) He then identified the defendant in the courtroom, and testified that the defendant had been blond in 1987. (XIV 680-81) The defense objected to the testimony and moved for a mistrial. (XIV 682-84, 688-89, 694-95) The defense argument was that counsel could not challenge the deputy's testimony without revealing the defendant's criminal record, and that "the jury is going to come to one conclusion, and that being he knew him because of criminal activity." (XIV 683-84) The State took the position that it was equally likely the jury would infer that Deputy Jones had met the defendant in some other capacity. (XIV 684-85, 692, 696) The court took a recess to consider the matter, then sustained the objection but denied a mistrial. (XIV 685-86, 694, 696) The court noted that "some other court may tell me that I should have granted a mistrial," but concluded that "during your lifetime you know law enforcement officers even if you've never been in trouble." (XIV 698)

In its motion for new trial, filed after the guilt-phase verdicts were returned, the defense asked the court to reconsider the mistrial motion. (VI 1184) The court denied the motion for new trial. (IX 1772-73)

THE SUICIDE ATTEMPT, AND THE SUICIDE LETTER

On April 4, 2011, this case was set for trial. (IX 1635) On April 3 the defendant was rushed to the hospital, having been found unresponsive in his jail cell with a rope made from a sheet around his neck; he lapsed into a coma, from

which he later recovered. (IX 1635) On April 7 the State issued a subpoena for the hospital's records, and the defense moved to quash the subpoena. (V 995-96) A hearing was held on the motion to quash on April 19. (IX 1634-48) At the hearing the State argued, relying on Walker v. State, 483 So. 2d 791 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), that the attempted suicide was "certainly" evidence of consciousness of guilt. (IX 1634-36) The court responded "I believe there's a compelling State interest in fairness, and in not creating what is happening over in the jail by attempted anarchy. Which is just prevalent in the jail now. It appears that many people over there believe they can avoid, by any method whatsoever - and I'm highly concerned in what I hear in here today. And not only is this relevant, under Walker v. State, to the charge filed. It may be necessary for a State investigation of what went on. What really went on. You know, right now, it appears very much...that there's potentially a fraud brought upon the court." (IX 1641-42) The court denied the motion to quash the State's subpoena. (IX 1642)

The parties and court revisited the matter on November 30. (IX 1676, 1693-1708) The defense asked the court to reconsider its ruling allowing the State to prove the suicide attempt, and argued that if the attempt were to be proven, the defense should be allowed to introduce the defendant's suicide letter, which was addressed to counsel and was found in the defendant's cell. (IX 1693-94) The

letter has been made part of the record. (VI 1067-68) In the letter the defendant says that the prosecution lied to obtain the indictment against him, and asks counsel to send the exculpatory DNA test reports to his daughter. In the letter the defendant further states "You said you would charge \$50,000 to go to work on a case like this. You know things should have been done that weren't. I'm being led to a slaughter and you know it. Please do this last thing for me." (VI 1067) The State argued the letter was hearsay (IX 1704); the defense relied on <u>Meggison v.</u> <u>State</u>, 540 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), to support the letter's admissibility. (IX 1695-96) The court ruled that the State could prove up the suicide attempt, and that "this letter, even in light of the <u>Meggison</u> case and the argument that's been presented by the defense, would not be admissible to rebut that." (IX 1705)

On the morning the trial began, the judge repeated his earlier ruling regarding the suicide letter, noting "I just don't know how the letter is going to get crossexamined." (XI 16) The State called a corrections officer during the guilt phase of trial; he testified that on April 3 he found the defendant unresponsive in his cell with a homemade rope around his neck. (XIV 708-18) The State, in its closing guilt phase argument, asked the jury to consider that evidence when it weighed its verdicts. (XVI 1062) In its motion for new trial, filed after the verdicts were returned, the defense argued that it was error to allow proof of the suicide attempt

and to also deny admission of the suicide letter. (VI 1185) The court denied the motion for new trial. (IX 1772-73)

MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL, AND THE GUILT PHASE VERDICTS

At the close of the State's case, and again at the close of the evidence, the defense moved for judgment of acquittal as to both counts. (XIV 775-77; XVI 1047-49) The defense argued that there was no evidence of a sexual battery or a robbery, and therefore no evidence of felony-murder; that there was no evidence of premeditated murder; and that there was insufficient evidence that the defendant was in Sumter County at all. (XIV 775-77; XVI 1047-49) The motions were denied. (XIV 779; XVI 1050)

After the proof set out above was introduced, the jury was instructed in accordance with the standard jury instructions, and retired to consider its guilt phase verdicts. During those deliberations the jury sent out the question "What is the penalty for first-degree murder? Second-degree murder?" (XVI 1124) With the parties' agreement, the court instructed the jurors that they should not consider possible penalties at that time. (XVI 1127) The ensuing verdict on Count II was not guilty of sexual battery with great physical force, and guilty, instead, of the lesser included offense of aggravated battery. (XVI 1130; VI 1119) The verdict on Count I was a general verdict of guilty of first-degree murder. (XVI 1130; VI 1130; VI 1118)

THE JURY FOREMAN'S GOOGLE SEARCH

Immediately after the jury was polled, the jurors were returned to the jury room. (XVI 1131-32) A short discussion of when to begin the penalty phase ensued in open court. (XVI 1132-40) Afterward the court released the jury for the day. (XVI 1141) Court reconvened later that afternoon, with the court taking a statement from bailiff Terry Appel. (XVI 1144-45) She stated she told the jurors, after the verdict was announced, that they could use their cellphones to call home. (XVI 1145) She also stated that one juror asked if he could look something up; she reported that she responded "yes," but followed that answer with "No, you better wait, we have to ask the judge.... The next thing I saw, or heard, was where he was starting to read something off the internet." (XVI 1145-46) The court responded "And that would have been the foreperson, which is Robert Eck? And he had gone onto his cellphone internet, and was reading something to do with this case?" The bailiff responded "Yes, sir." (XVI 1146)

The court brought the jurors back individually and asked them what had happened in the jury room. (XVI 1148-89) They were not sworn as witnesses at that time; they had earlier been sworn to "well and truly try the issues between the State of Florida and the Defendant, and render a true verdict according to the law and the evidence." (XII 338) Five jurors (Bernat, Long, Cavanaugh, Orienti, and Reedy) denied they had heard anything about research being done, and one (McKinney) denied she had heard anything more than the defendant's name. (XVI 1149, 1152-53, 1165, 1166-67, 1168-69, 1184) In questioning the remaining jurors (Thompson, Kyler, Adkinson, Cassidy, Eck, and Weatherford), the judge began each colloquy with the statement that he believed someone might have violated the court's earlier orders not to conduct any individual research. (XVI 1154, 1157, 1161, 1170, 1179, 1186) The judge went on to ask them, individually, whether they had been aware of any electronic communication that involved the case taking place in the jury room. (XVI 1154, 1157-58, 1161, 1170, 1179, 1186)

Juror Kyler responded that the foreman, Eck, had told him he tried, but failed, to look up information on the defendant. (XVI 1158-60) Jurors Thompson and Adkinson said that Eck had told them he read that the defendant had gone to Disney World with his family, and argued with them, during his Florida trip; Adkinson specified that Eck was reading off his cellphone at the time. (XVI 1154-55, 1161-62) Juror Cassidy said that Eck looked up the defendant, and that Cassidy read on Eck's phone that there had been an altercation at Disney. Cassidy further stated that a second juror, named Daniel, told him he had learned the defendant had been in prison for rape for 17 years. (XVI 1170-72) Cassidy did not know how Daniel knew about the rape, but thought "the same printout" might

have been the source of all the information. (XVI 1170-72) Juror Daniel Weatherford said he overheard that the defendant had been in Orlando, and overheard that he had been in jail, but that he had not discussed those facts with anyone. (XVI 1186-87; see XII 329) The foreman, Robert Eck, said he had "Googled up" the defendant's name, read one headline from the (Sumter County) Daily Commercial, learned no more than he had learned during the trial, and overheard no discussion of the research. (XVI 1179-83)

All of the jurors who said they had overheard or read something during the break assured the judge they would not be affected, going forward in the penalty phase, by what they had learned. (XVI 1149, 1155, 1158, 1163, 1172, 1181, 1187) All of the jurors who were asked said they had done no electronic or other independent research before reaching their guilt-phase verdicts. (XVI 1158, 1172, 1181, 1187) Defense counsel objected to the same jury remaining empaneled for the penalty phase. (XVI 1189-90) She noted that the court had carefully admonished the jury not to do any independent research throughout the trial. (XVI 1190) In fact, the court did so no fewer than 48 times.¹

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