IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

2013 FEB 25 F11 2:	31
a manager of the transfer set of	i.
BV	

CARL DAUSCH,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC12-1161

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 998818

Office of the Attorney General 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 Primary E-Mail: Ken.nunnelley@myfloridalegal.com Secondary E-Mail: capapp@myfloridalegal.com (386)238-4990 (386)226-0457 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> In his brief, Dausch claims that the DNA matched Dausch at "two loci." That is incorrect, and is not what the transcript reflects.

jury. The motion for judgment of acquittal was properly denied.

# II. THE "POLICE OFFICER'S TESTIMONY AS A BASIS FOR MISTRIAL" CLAIM

On pages 41-45 of his brief, Dausch says that the trial court should have granted his motion for mistrial because a law enforcement officer from Dausch's home area in 1987 testified about the defendant's appearance at that time. Because this claim is raised as a denial of a motion for mistrial, the trial court's ruling is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Goodwin v. State*, 751 So. 2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999); *Thomas v. State*, 748 So. 2d 970, 980 (Fla. 1999) (explaining that a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the trial court's discretion and should not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion); *Hamilton v. State*, 703 So. 2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1997) (same).

The testimony at issue begins at V14, R678, and consists of the testimony of Indiana sheriff's deputy Alan Jones that he knows the defendant, and that, in the 1980s, Dausch had long blonde hair. (V14, R681). Not until the witness was shown a **photograph** did Dausch raise any objection at all, and that objection was to the introduction of the photograph (V14, R689-90), which was sustained. (V14, R697). **Dausch never objected to any part of the officer's testimony, and did not preserve that issue for review.** See Hazen v. State, 700 So. 2d 1207, 1211 (Fla. 1997) (stating that the court "need not reach the merits

of this claim" because it was "procedurally barred for lack of a contemporaneous objection.")(*citing Lindsey v. State*, 636 So. 2d 1327, 1328 (Fla. 1994); *Correll v. State*, 523 So. 2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988)); *Teffeteller v. State*, 495 So. 2d 744, 747 (Fla. 1986) (stating that "[a]ppellant cannot bootstrap this concern over" [revealing the defendant's prior death sentence] in *voir dire* "to alleviate the requirement of a contemporaneous objection.") (*citing Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982)).<sup>26</sup> The claim by Dausch that the Court "sustained his objection to his testimony" is not supported by the record. That

<sup>26</sup> Dausch has not established error and has not argued that fundamental error exits. Fundamental error is error that "reach[es] down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Archer v. State, 934 So. 2d 1187, 1205 (Fla. 2006) (*citing Kilgore v. State*, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1997)); D'Oleo-Valdez v. State, 531 So. 2d 1347, 1348 (Fla. 1988) ("for error to be so fundamental that it may be urged on appeal, though not properly presented below, the error must amount to a denial of due process.") (*citing Ray v.* State, 403 So. 2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981)).

was not the objection that he made at trial.

Even putting aside the failure to preserve this claim, evidence about the defendant's appearance in 1987 was certainly relevant and probative of the issues in this case. It stands reason on its head to suggest that evidence of the defendant's appearance at the time of the murder has "weak probative value" when 25 years separate the murder from the trial. That sort of evidence is critical to the truth-seeking function of the court.

Moreover, the fact that a law enforcement officer testified that he knew Dausch 25 years ago does not imply that that knowledge came from official contact with Dausch. For all the jury knew, Dausch lived next door to the officer. *Randolph v. State*, 556 So. 2d 808, 809 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) ("It cannot be accepted as a foregone conclusion that a jury will infer that, when a police officer knows a person, that person has been suspected as a criminal or has a criminal record."). And, in addition to not objecting to the officer's testimony, Dausch specifically did not ask for a cautionary instruction of any sort. (V14, R699). Under these facts, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial.

The cases cited in Dausch's brief do not require a different result. The objection at trial was not framed in federal due process terms, and the objection that was raised (which was to the photograph) was sustained. There is no adverse ruling from

which to appeal. And, Dausch's reliance on *Thigpen v. Thigpen*, 926 F.2d 1003, 1012 (11th Cir. 1991) is misplaced. *Thigpen* was a federal habeas corpus case that was decided under the habeas statute that was replaced by the Anti-terrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1994, and the continuing precedential value of that decision is questionable. At best, *Thigpen* has nothing at all to do with this case because it was decided on federal procedural grounds. This claim is not a basis for relief.

## III. THE ATTEMPTED SUICIDE

On pages 46-50 of his brief, Dausch says that the trial court should not have admitted evidence that he attempted suicide on the eve of his first trial date. The admission of evidence generally is reviewed only for an abuse of discretion, *Ray v. State*, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000), and consciousness of guilt evidence (which a suicide attempt is) is no exception to that rule. "We review a trial court's ruling on the admission of evidence advanced to demonstrate consciousness of guilt for abuse of discretion. *See Jackson v. State*, 18 So. 3d 1016, 1031 (Fla. 2009)." *Partin v. State*, 82 So. 3d 31, 38-39 (Fla. 2011). Dausch cannot make that showing.

The testimony about Dausch's attempted suicide is found at V14, R708-23 in the record. That testimony establishes that the suicide attempt took place the night before Dausch was originally scheduled for trial, and, given that he was described

as unresponsive when he was admitted to the hospital, there can be no colorable claim that the suicide attempt was a serious one. The timing of that attempt places it within the chronology of suicide attempts that demonstrate consciousness of guilt and show a desire to avoid prosecution. *Walker v. State*, 483 So. 2d 791 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). The suicide attempt was properly admitted.

The second part of this claim is that what Dausch calls a "suicide letter" should have been admissible to "explain" the suicide attempt. That document is found at V6, R1067. Whether that letter is actually a statement of "then existing state of mind" for §90.803(3) purposes is debatable. The closest it comes to "state of mind" is the statement that Dausch believes he is being "led to a slaughter" -- the most that statement shows is a desire to avoid prosecution, and that is exactly the premise of "consciousness of guilt" evidence. The letter does not explain, justify or rationalize the suicide attempt and is ultimately simply a self-serving document that has nothing to do with the writer's state of mind. There was no abuse of discretion, and therefore no error, in refusing to admit the self-serving letter.

Further, had the letter been admitted, the outcome would have been no more than to allow Dausch to testify in the guilt phase without being subject to cross examination. That result would

have been contrary to any notion of a fair trial. Moreover, it would have allowed the State to impeach the hearsay declarant (Dausch) with his criminal record. *Huggins v. State*, 889 So. 2d 743, 755-757 (Fla. 2004). That bare-bones impeachment would have amounted to a poor second choice. The letter did nothing to "explain" the attempted suicide, and it was properly refused admission. There is no basis for relief.

Alternatively, while not mentioned at trial or in Dausch's brief, the sentence in the letter that says "I'm being led to a slaughter and you know it" can arguably be considered an expression of then-existing state of mind. However, the remainder of the letter, which consists of complaints about the prosecution and assertions about what the "independent DNA" reports show, has nothing at all to do with state of mind, or anything else that falls under 90.803(3). Dausch never suggested that the letter be redacted in any fashion, and chose to insist on admission of the entire letter. Had Dausch attempted to redact the letter to exclude the self-serving parts that had nothing at all to do with state-of-mind evidence, he might have a basis for complaint. As it is, however, the letter, as offered, was not admissible, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allow it in evidence.

## IV. THE JUROR MISCONDUCT CLAIM

On pages 51-58 of his brief, Dausch says that he is entitled

to a new trial based upon "juror misconduct." Because the claimed misconduct took place after the guilty verdict had been announced, the only issue is whether Dausch should have a new penalty phase. In general terms,

Under Florida law, a trial court has wide discretion in deciding whether or not to grant a new trial. *First National Bank v. Bliss*, 56 So. 2d 922, 924 (Fla. 1952). However, this discretion is not without limit:

The granting of a mistrial should be only for a specified fundamental or prejudicial error which has been committed in the trial of such a nature as will vitiate the result.... However, when an alleged error is committed which does no substantial harm and the defendant is not materially prejudiced by the occurrence, the court should deny the motion for a mistrial.

Perry v. State, 146 Fla. 187, 200 So. 525, 527 (1941) (citations omitted). Accord Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.600. An abuse of the discretion to grant a new trial thus is subject to reversal on appeal.

State v. Hamilton, 574 So. 2d 124, 126 (Fla. 1991). It is an abuse of discretion to grant relief when any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* Any error in this case was harmless.

Dausch says, as the factual basis for this claim, that the jurors "conducted their own internet research." Initial Brief,

at 52. That statement exaggerates the events, which were shown, through the testimony of the jurors, to be that a **single** juror ran what was apparently a single search from an iPhone and commented on the result of that search to a small number of the other jurors. (V16, R1145-89).<sup>27</sup> All of the evidence is consistent that no incident of any sort whatsoever took place until after the jury had found Dausch guilty. (V16, R1130, 1145, 1147, 1150, 1158-59, 1162, 1164, 1171, 1172, 1179-80, 1181-82, 1187). This claim does not implicate the conviction in any way. And, of the few jurors who even knew about the search results,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Jury Foreman Eck said the jury was told they could use their phones. (V16, R1182). Eck "googled" Dausch's name on his iphone and saw a headline from the local paper, The Daily Commercial. (V16, R1179, 1181). Eck said the headline mentioned Dausch, and the year "two thousand four, thousand five, something like that." (V16, R82). Eck did not open/click the newspaper article. (V16, R1182). Jurors Burnat, Long, Cavanaugh, Orienti, and Reedy said they did not hear anything about Dausch from Eck or any other juror. (V16, R1152-53, 1165, 1166-67, 1168-69, 1184). Juror Tyler said Eck looked up Dausch's name on his iphone, "But he didn't see anything." (V1157-1158). Juror McKinney said "I heard a name (Carl Dausch) but that was it." (V16, R1149). Jurors Adkison and Thompson said Eck "had looked up something on (his) iphone ... and it said something about Carl had gone to DisneyWorld in two thousand and four with his family. And something about they had an argument." (V16, R1161-62; 1165). Juror Cassidy said Eck and Juror Weatherford told him that Dausch had been in Orlando at some point, that "there was some sort of altercation," and that Dausch "may have been in prison for a different charge." (V16, R1170-71). Weatherford told Cassidy that Dausch "most likely" had been in prison for rape. (V16, R1171). Juror Weatherford said he heard "a general conversation" that Dausch had been in Orlando and "that he was in jail before here." (V16, R1186, 1188).

each said that it would not affect their penalty phase verdict. The trial court, after observing the demeanor of the jurors, found any error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt through his citation to *Hamilton, supra*, as the basis for his denial of relief.

The testimony is undisputed that the internet search at issue took place in the jury room after the guilty verdict had been announced and before instructions were given to the jury about reporting for the penalty phase. It is also undisputed that that the information resulting from that search was that Dausch had a prior felony conviction, and that Dausch had made a trip to DisneyWorld when he was in Florida. The jury learned of Dausch's criminal past very soon, (V17, R1266-67) and there is absolutely no evidence anywhere to suggest that DisneyWorld was on his travel itinerary. Dausch's criminal record cannot be part of the harmless error analysis because that evidence was properly before the jury at the penalty phase. Because that is so, the only "improper" information at issue is the incorrect news report that had Dausch travelling to DisneyWorld. The only prejudice suggested from that incorrect information is the speculative suggestion that the jury might have "lost faith in the defense team" based on that incorrect report. That requires stacking inferences to an unreasonable degree. Since the jury had just sat through the trial and was privy to all of the

evidence, it is more likely (if one wishes to speculate) that the few jurors who were aware of the purported "DisneyWorld trip" would readily conclude that the media got their facts wrong. Under the circumstances of this case, which were heavily aggravated (and minimally mitigated) for sentencing purposes, this indiscretion by some members of the jury was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. A speculative suggestion that the jury would have distrusted the defense team does not establish prejudice, especially when the jury is not exactly predisposed in the defendant's favor at the start of the penalty phase, having already convicted him of first degree murder. Green v. Zant, 738 F.2d 1529, 1542 (11th Cir. 1984) ("A defendant does not arrive at the penalty phase of a capital proceeding with a clean slate, and there is no point in pretending otherwise."). Dausch's claim of prejudice fails. In any event, as the trial court properly found after lengthy inquiry, the jurors were able to base their penalty phase recommendation solely on the evidence presented in court, and that there was no information about the defendant that did not come before the jury during the penalty phase. (V8, R1405-6).

In his brief, Dausch attempts to apply the standard for juror "misconduct and concealment" of information during *voir dire* to the distinct facts of this case. The *voir dire* standard is as follows:

The question of whether a juror has concealed material information during *voir dire* so as to warrant the juror's removal or the grant of a new trial is subject to the three-part *De La Rosa* test:

First, the complaining party must establish that the information is relevant and material to jury service in the case. Second, that the juror concealed the information during questioning. Lastly, that the failure to disclose the information was not attributable to the complaining party's lack of diligence.

De La Rosa v. Zequeira, 659 So. 2d 239, 241 (Fla. 1995). Although De La Rosa is a civil case, the three-part test also applies in criminal cases. See Murray v. State, 3 So. 3d 1108, 1121-22 (Fla. 2009); Marshall v. State, 664 So. 2d 302, 304 n. 2 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995).

Nicholas v. State, 47 So. 3d 297, 313 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2010). The standard applicable to this case is the settled Hamilton standard set out above. In any event, the De La Rosa standard was never suggested to the trial court, was not argued or preserved by objection at trial, and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Therefore, the instant challenge is unpreserved and procedurally barred from appellate consideration. Smith v. State, 28 So. 3d 838, 863 (Fla. 2009) (citing Perez v. State, 919 So. 2d 347, 359 (Fla. 2005) (holding

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